No. 43339-7-II

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

VS.

MANUEL MERINO,

Appellant.

On Appeal from the Pierce County Superior Court Cause No. 11-1-02573-1 The Honorable John McCarthy, Judge

OPENING BRIEF OF APPELLANT

STEPHANIE C. CUNNINGHAM Attorney for Appellant WSBA No. 26436

4616 25th Avenue NE, No. 552 Seattle, Washington 98105 Phone (206) 526-5001

I. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- The State failed to present sufficient evidence to convict Manuel Merino of delivery of a controlled substance as charged in count two.
- The State failed to present sufficient evidence to establish that Manuel Merino was an accomplice to another person's act of delivering a controlled substance.
- 3. The trial court erred when it denied Manuel Merino's motion to dismiss at the close of the State's case because the State's evidence was insufficient to establish the elements of the crime of delivery of a controlled substance charged in count two.

II. ISSUES PERTAINING TO THE ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

 Where the State's evidence showed at most that Manuel Merino was aware of and did not prevent his co-defendant from delivering a controlled substance to a confidential informant, did the State fail to present sufficient evidence to prove that Merino acted as an accomplice to the delivery? (Assignments of Error 1, 2, & 3)

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In early June of 2011, the Tacoma Police Department

received numerous complaints about high traffic volume and possible drug dealing from a house located on South 7th Street in Tacoma. (RP 26-27, 27-28, 31-32)¹ After conducting surveillance for several days, Officer AI Shultz decided to send a confidential informant into the house to attempt a controlled drug buy. (TRP 33, 34) He contacted Tamika Foley, a confidential informant who had done similar jobs in the past. (RP 36)

On June 14, 2011, he met with Foley and conducted a thorough search of her person and belongings for drugs, weapons and money. (RP 37-38, 39) He then gave her pre-recorded bills to use in the transaction. (TRP 37) Shultz also showed Foley a picture of the targeted seller, Malcolm Hampton. (TRP 140-41, 169, 205, 249)

After surveillance units were in place around the house, Foley approached and knocked on the front door. (TRP 40-41, 44) A woman opened the door and let Foley inside, then the officers lost sight of Foley. (TRP 45, 85-86) Shultz subsequently watched as Foley exited the house and walked to the pre-arranged meeting spot, where she gave Shultz a substance that was later determined

¹ The transcripts containing the trial proceedings, labeled volumes 1-6, will be referred to as "TRP." The transcript containing the sentencing hearing will be referred to as "SRP."

to be crack cocaine. (TRP 46, 281, 284)

Foley testified that she was not familiar with Hampton or Manuel Merino before the controlled buy on June 14. (TRP 136-37) She testified that she entered the house with only the money provided to her by Shultz. (TRP 140) While she was chatting with the woman who opened the door, Hampton entered the room and asked Foley to explain how they knew each other. (TRP 141-42) She pretended that they had met previously, but she could sense that Hampton did not believe her. (TRP 141-42)

Foley testified that she asked Hampton if she could buy drugs. (TRP 144) Hampton then left the room and returned with Merino, who told her not to come to the house again. (TRP 142, 144, 178) Merino told Foley she could call him, and gave her a phone number. (TRP 142, 178) Hampton and Merino left the room together, then returned about five minutes later. (TRP 145, 180) Hampton handed Foley some drugs and she handed Hampton her money, then she left the house. (TRP 142, 143, 146, 186)

On June 20, 2011, Shultz directed Foley to call the phone number that Merino provided to arrange for another controlled buy. (TRP 53-54, 148) Foley and Merino agreed to meet in a Safeway parking lot. (TRP 55, 150) Before sending Foley to the meeting,

Shultz again searched Foley for drugs and money, then gave her pre-recorded bills. (TRP 54-55, 150) Shultz then watched as Foley and Merino met in the parking lot. (TRP 56, 58) After the meeting, Foley returned with a substance that was later determined to be crack cocaine. (TRP 60, 281, 284) Surveillance units also followed Merino as he drove back to the South 7th Street house. (TRP 558-59)

Foley testified that the man she met at the Safeway was Merino, and that he gave her drugs in exchange for money. (TRP 150) A surveillance video also showed Merino and Foley meeting in the Safeway parking lot. (TRP 65, 69)

Police executed a search warrant at the South 7th Street house on June 23, 2011. (TRP 71, 215, 335) Ten to fifteen people used the house as their mailing address or residence address, and there were about nine people, including Hampton and Merino, present at the house at the time the warrant was executed. (TRP 86-87) Only small amounts of marijuana and some items of drug paraphernalia were found in the home. (TRP 78, 215) But Merino's wallet contained \$1,055 in cash, and \$320 was found in Hampton's car. (TRP 81, 117-18, 223)

The State charged Merino with two counts of unlawful

delivery of a controlled substance (RCW 69.50.401). (CP 3-4, 7-8) The State also alleged that both offenses were aggravated because the deliveries occurred within 1000 feet of a school bus stop or school zone. (CP 7-8) The jury found Merino guilty as charged. (CP 16, 42-44; TRP 477) The trial court sentenced Merino within his standard range to 60 months of confinement to be followed by 24 months for the school enhancement. (SRP 2, 8; CP 46, 50, 53) This appeal timely follows. (CP 61)

IV. ARGUMENT & AUTHORITIES

"Due process requires that the State provide sufficient evidence to prove each element of its criminal case beyond a reasonable doubt." <u>City of Tacoma v. Luvene</u>, 118 Wn.2d 826, 849, 827 P.2d 1374 (1992) (citing <u>In re Winship</u>, 397 U.S. 358, 90 S. Ct. 1068, 25 L. Ed. 2d 368 (1970)). Evidence is sufficient to support a conviction only if, viewed in the light most favorable to the prosecution, it permits any rational trier of fact to find the essential elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt. <u>State v.</u> <u>Salinas</u>, 119 Wn.2d 192, 201, 829 P.2d 1068 (1992). "A claim of insufficiency admits the truth of the State's evidence and all inferences that reasonably can be drawn therefrom." <u>Salinas</u>, 119 Wn.2d at 201.

A person is guilty of delivery of a controlled substance if, with intent to deliver, he delivers a controlled substance, such as cocaine, and knows that the delivered substance is controlled. RCW 69.50.401; <u>State v. DeVries</u>, 149 Wn.2d 842, 849–50, 72 P.3d 748 (2003). An accomplice bears the same criminal responsibility as a principal. <u>State v. Silva–Baltazar</u>, 125 Wn.2d 472, 480, 886 P.2d 138 (1994).

A person is an accomplice if, with knowledge that it will promote or facilitate the commission of the crime, he solicits, commands, encourages, or requests another person to commit the crime, or he aids or agrees to aid another person in planning or committing the crime. RCW 9A.08.020(3)(a)(i-ii). Physical presence and awareness of the criminal transaction alone are insufficient to establish accomplice liability. In re Wilson, 91 Wn.2d 487, 491, 588 P.2d 1161 (1979); State v. Rotunno, 95 Wn.2d 931, 933, 631 P.2d 951 (1981). Rather, to aid in the commission of the crime the defendant must, in some way, associate himself with the undertaking, participate in it as something he desires to bring about, and seek by his action to make it succeed. State v. J-R Distribs., 82 Wn.2d 584, 593, 512 P.2d 1049 (1973).

For example, in <u>State v. Rangel-Reyes</u>, a confidential police

informant contacted Jose Garcia and asked to purchase a large amount of cocaine. 119 Wn. App. 494, 496, 81 P.3d 157 (2003). The two men agreed to meet at a parking lot. When they arrived, Garcia was unable to quote the informant a price for the cocaine, and told the informant that the person who would be bringing the cocaine was on his way. 119 Wn. App. at 496. A few moments later, Rangle-Reyes arrived in his car, and he and Garcia had a conversation about prices. 119 Wn. App. at 496. After his discussion with Rangle-Reyes, Garcia told the informant the exact amount of cocaine he could sell and its price. 119 Wn. App. at 496-97. Garcia also told the informant to meet him at a nearby restaurant. 119 Wn. App. at 496-97.

Rangle-Reyes and Garcia then left together in Rangle-Reyes' car. 119 Wn. App. at 497. Later, Rangle-Reyes dropped Garcia off at the designated restaurant, where Garcia met the informant and delivered the cocaine. 119 Wn. App. at 497. On appeal, the court found sufficient circumstantial evidence to prove that Rangle-Reyes was aware of the proposed drug transaction and provided Garcia with the drugs, and acted as an accomplice to Garcia's delivery of a controlled substance. 119 Wn. App. at 500.

In the consolidated case of State v. Hernandez, police

officers arrested Ruben Soto and Juan Davila after watching them engage in what the officers believed were three drug transactions. 85 Wn. App. 672, 681, 935 P.2d 623 (1997). In the first transaction, the officers saw a woman contact and converse with Soto and Davila. Davila then pulled out a "small dark object" from his pants pocket and handed it to Soto. Soto handed the object to the woman and received money from her, which he then handed to Davila. 85 Wn. App. at 681. Next, a man who had accompanied the woman into the area approached Soto. Soto handed him an object in exchange for money, and again handed Davila the money. A short time later, another man approached Soto. They spoke and then Davila handed Soto another "small dark object." Soto exchanged the object for currency from the third buyer. 85 Wn. App. at 681.

The police arrested Soto and Davila. Upon searching Davila, they recovered three bindles of heroin and \$160 in cash. The police recovered \$44 in cash and \$21 in food coupons from Soto. 85 Wn. App. at 681. On appeal, the court found that this evidence was sufficient to prove that Davila, acting as an accomplice to Soto, participated in three heroin deliveries. 85 Wn. App. at 682.

The evidence at trial regarding the first controlled buy at the South 7th Street house was: that Hampton was the known target; that Foley made contact with him first and asked him for drugs; that Merino later came into the room and told her not to come to the house again; that Hampton and Merino left the room and then returned a few minutes later; and that Hampton gave Foley the cocaine and she gave Hampton her money. (TRP 205, 141-46, 178, 180, 185, 186) Based on this evidence, the State asserted that Hampton was the principal and that Merino was his accomplice.² (RP 394-95, 448, 450; CP 32- 34)

Unlike in <u>Rangel-Reyes</u> and <u>Hernandez</u>, there is insufficient evidence in this case to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that Merino acted as an accomplice to Hampton's delivery of drugs to Foley at the house. Unlike in <u>Rangle-Reyes</u>, there was no evidence that Hampton and Merino discussed whether to sell Foley drugs or discussed the amount or price of the drugs Hampton would sell Foley. Unlike in <u>Hernandez</u>, there was no evidence that Merino provided Hampton with the cocaine he sold to Foley, or that

² Curiously, the jury was unable to unanimously agree on a verdict for Hampton's charge of delivery of a controlled substance relating to the sale at the South 7th Street house, yet they were able to unanimously agree that Merino acted as his accomplice in that delivery. (CP 18, 32; TRP 475-76)

Hampton gave Merino the money received from Foley.

In fact, there is no evidence that Merino in any way desired the transaction to occur or acted in a way that would assist in accomplishing the transaction. To the contrary, the fact that Merino told Foley not to come to the house again and told her she could call him some other time indicates that he actually did not want a transaction to occur at the house. (TRP 142, 178)

The State's evidence establishes only that Merino was present and aware and did not object to Hampton delivering cocaine to Foley, but this does not make Merino an accomplice. There is no evidence from which a rational juror could conclude that Merino acted as an accomplice to Hampton in the delivery of cocaine at the South 7th Street house. Accordingly, Merino's conviction on this count must be reversed.

V. CONCLUSION

For the reasons argued above, Merino's conviction in count two for unlawful delivery of a controlled substance and its corresponding sentence enhancement should be reversed and dismissed, and his case remanded for resentencing with a reduced offender score.