NO. 43339-7

**COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II
STATE OF WASHINGTON**

STATE OF WASHINGTON, RESPONDENT

v.

MANUEL MERINO, APPELLANT

Appeal from the Superior Court of Pierce County
The Honorable John A. McCarthy

No. 11-1-02573-1

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

MARK LINDQUIST
Prosecuting Attorney

By
KATHLEEN PROCTOR
Deputy Prosecuting Attorney
WSB # 14811

930 Tacoma Avenue South
Room 946
Tacoma, WA 98402
PH: (253) 798-7400

B. STATEMENT OF THE CASE.

1. Procedure

On June 20, 2011, the Pierce County Prosecutor's Office ("State") charged Manuel Merino ("defendant") with two counts of unlawful delivery of a controlled substance. CP 1-2. The State also charged co-defendant, Malcom Hampton, with one count of unlawful delivery of a controlled substance. CP 1-2. On March 16, 2012, the information was amended to include that the defendant was within 1,000 feet of a school bus route stop for both counts. CP 5-6. On March 22, 2012, the information was amended a second time to include that the defendant was within 1,000 feet of the perimeter of school grounds or a school bus route stop on Count III. CP 7-8.

On March 19, 2012, jury trial began for the defendant and his co-defendant before the Honorable John A. McCarthy. 1 RP 1. The jury found the defendant guilty as charged. CP 42; CP 16. The jury also found that the crimes were committed within 1,000 ft of a school bus stop. CP

43-44. The jury acquitted the co-defendant of the one count of unlawful delivery of a controlled substance. 5&6 RP 476.

On April 20, 2012, the court sentenced defendant to a total of 84 months. CP 47-90; 7 RP 8. The court sentenced the defendant to 60 months on both counts to run concurrently, and an additional sentence enhancement of 24 months for both counts to run concurrently. CP 47-60. The defendant filed a timely notice of appeal. CP 61.

2. Facts

In June of 2011, Officer Shultz received information that people were distributing narcotics at a house located at 1008 7th Street Tacoma, Washington. 1&2 RP 26-31. Officer Shultz conducted his own surveillance at various times; he observed people, who looked as if they did not belong, stop by for frequent short visits. 1&2 RP 33. As a result, Officer Shultz decided to pursue an investigation. 1&2 RP 33.

On June 14, 2011, Officer Shultz used a confidential informant, Tamika Foley, to conduct a “cold knock.” 1&2 RP 52. A “cold knock” is when a stranger knocks on the door and tries to purchase narcotics from the occupant. 1&2 RP 34. Officer Shultz observed Ms. Foley walk up to the house, knock on the door, and go inside. 1&2 RP 44. Ms. Foley testified that inside the house she met Mr. Hampton who asked Ms. Foley where he knew her from. 3 RP 143. Ms. Foley pretended that they had previously met at the “Handy Mart.” 3 RP 142-143. Ms. Foley told Mr.

Hampton that she wanted to purchase drugs; Mr. Hampton went upstairs and returned with the defendant. 3 RP 144. When Mr. Hampton and the defendant approached Ms. Foley, the defendant handed her a phone number, and warned Ms. Foley to not come back to the house without calling first. 3 RP 146. Mr. Hampton then handed Ms. Foley the crack cocaine, and she handed him the \$100. 3RP 146-147. After Ms. Foley left the house, she gave the crack cocaine to Officer Shultz and Officer Buchanan. 1&2 RP 47.

On June 20, 2011, Officer Shultz set up another controlled buy and had Ms. Foley call the defendant at the number he had given her to purchase crack cocaine. 1&2 RP 55. Officer Shultz videotaped the transaction, which occurred in the Safeway parking lot located between 11th and 12th near M Street in Tacoma. 1&2 RP 55; Exhibit 3. Ms. Foley testified that she was given \$100 to purchase crack cocaine. 3 RP 148-150. Ms. Foley put the money in the defendant's pocket, and the defendant put the drugs in Ms. Foley's hand. 3 RP 148-150. After the June 20, 2011 controlled buy, the officers followed the defendant's vehicle back to the 1008 South 7th Street house. 1 RP 58.

On June 23, 2011, Officer Shultz served a search warrant to allow the search of the 1008 South 7th Street house and vehicles. 1&2 RP 71; 1&2 RP 91. Defendant and Mr. Hampton were present during the search and were subsequently arrested. 1&2 RP 77. The officers discovered evidence of drug paraphernalia, drug pipes, prescription pill bottles,

packaging bottles, and packaging for marijuana. 1&2 RP 78. The officers found a quantity of a little over a \$1,000 on the defendant. 1&2 RP 80-81.

The officers also found \$300 in the trunk of Mr. Hampton's car. 1&2 RP 80-81.

During trial, Maude Kelleher, lead routing specialist for Tacoma School District, testified that the 1008 7th Street house was located within 1,000 feet of a school bus stop. 3 RP 308. Ms. Kelleher also testified that Whitman Elementary was located within a 1,000 foot radius of the Safeway where the June 20th delivery occurred. 3 RP 313-314.

Robert Lattimar, the person who leases the 1008 7th Street house testified in the defense case. 4 RP 361. Mr. Lattimar explained that the house is a "clean and sober" house that is meant for short term living when people need to get back on their feet in society. 4 RP 362. Mr. Lattimar said that the defendant was a resident advisor of the house and his duties were to keep the house in order and to notify Mr. Lattimar if anything needed to be fixed. 4 RP 366. Mr. Lattimar explained that defendant had about \$1,100 on him because he gave defendant approximately \$500 to replace a French drain in the basement, and \$500 was collected for rent. 4 RP 366.

Mr. Hampton testified that he had never met Ms. Foley, or gave her drugs. 4 RP 376. Mr. Hampton testified that he kept money in his vehicle for rent. 4 RP 376.

Defendant did not testify.

C. ARGUMENT.

1. THE STATE HAD SUFFICIENT EVIDENCE TO PROVE COUNT II, THAT DEFENDANT COMMITTED THE CRIME OF UNLAWFUL DELIVERY OF A CONTROLLED SUBSTANCE.

Due process requires that the State bear the burden of proving each and every element of the crime charged beyond a reasonable doubt. *State v. Thomas*, 166 Wn.2d 380, 390, 208 P.3d 1107 (2009). The applicable standard of review is whether, after viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the prosecution, any rational fact finder could have found the elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt. *State v. Marohl*, 170 Wn.2d 691, 698, 246 P.3d 177 (2010). Challenging the sufficiency of the evidence admits the truth of the State's evidence and all reasonable inferences from the evidence. *State v. Gerber*, 28 Wn. App. 214, 217, 622 P.2d 888 (1981), *State v. Theroff*, 25 Wn. App. 590, 593, 608 P.2d 1254 (1980). All reasonable inferences from the evidence must favor the State and must be interpreted most strongly against the defendant. *State v. Salinas*, 119 Wn.2d 192, 201, 829 P.2d 1068 (1992).

Both circumstantial and direct evidence are equally reliable. *State v. Lubers*, 81 Wn. App. 614, 619, 915 P.2d 1157 (1996). In the case of conflicting evidence or evidence where reasonable minds might differ, the jury is the one to weigh the evidence, determine credibility of witnesses and decide disputed questions of fact. *Theroff*, supra, at 593. Credibility determinations are for the trier of fact and not subject to review. *State v. Camarillo*, 115 Wn.2d 60, 71, 794 P.2d 850 (1990).

In Washington, an accomplice is a participant in a crime, but need not participate in or have specific knowledge of every element of the crime nor share the same mental state as the principal. *State v. Sweet*, 138 Wn.2d 466, 479, 980 P.2d 1223 (1999); *State v. Hoffman*, 116 Wn.2d 51, 104, 804 P.2d 577 (1991). The accomplice must have acted with knowledge that his or her conduct would promote or facilitate “the crime” for which he or she is eventually charged, and that knowledge of “‘a crime’ does not impose strict liability for any and all offenses that follow.” *State v. Cronin*, 142 Wn.2d 568, 579, 14 P.3d 752 (2000); *State v. Roberts*, 142 Wn.2d 471, 513, 14 P.3d 713 (2000). Courts have upheld accomplice liability instructions where the evidence supports an inference that the defendant was either the principal or an accomplice, even if the prosecution primarily argued principal liability. *State v. Munden*, 81 Wn. App. 192, 913 P.2d 421 (1996) (when the evidence did not exclude the

possibility that defendant acted both as principal and accomplice, the trial court did not err in instructing on accomplice liability); *see also State v. McDonald*, 138 Wn.2d 680, 689, 981 P.2d 443 (1999).

Additionally, a person legally accountable for the conduct of another person may be convicted on proof of the commission of the crime and of his complicity therein, although the person claimed to have committed the crime has been acquitted. *State v. Harris*, 106 Wn.2d 784, 791, 725 P.2d 975 (1986), *citing* RCW 9A.08.020.

To convict the defendant of the crime of unlawful delivery of a controlled substance, the State had to prove:

- (1) That on or about the 14th of June, 2011, the defendant or an accomplice delivered a controlled substance;
- (2) That the defendant knew that the substance delivered was; cocaine; and
- (3) That this act occurred in the State of Washington.

CP 19-41 Instruction No. 12; *see also* RCW 69.50.401(1)(2)(a).

Defendant only challenges the first element of the unlawful delivery that occurred on June 14, 2011, at the 1008 7th Street house. Brief of Appellant 9. Defendant does not challenge that he knew that the substance delivered was cocaine, or that this act occurred in the State of Washington. Brief of Appellant 9-10. Defendant also does not challenge

the second controlled buy that occurred on June 20, 2011. Brief of Appellant 9.

The State had sufficient evidence to prove that on June 14, 2011, the defendant, was acting as an accomplice to the person who delivered the cocaine Ms. Foley. A reasonable juror could infer that the defendant was in charge of the drug transaction that occurred at 1008 South 7th Street house.

On June 14, 2011, when Ms. Foley “cold knocked” at the 1008 South 7th Street house, she initially spoke with Mr. Hampton telling him that she wanted drugs. Mr. Hampton did not make the sale without first bringing the defendant to meet Ms. Foley. A reasonable inference is that Mr. Hampton did not make the drug sale immediately because he went to get the defendant’s permission prior to engaging in the drug deal. The defendant acknowledged Ms. Foley, warned her to not come to the house without calling first, and gave her a phone number to call if she wanted any drugs in the future. A reasonable juror could make the inference from these facts that the defendant was supervising the drug deal, and setting up the conditions for any further drug transactions with Ms. Foley. It was only after the defendant interacted with Ms. Foley did Mr. Hampton engage in the exchange of drugs and money. A reasonable inference is that Mr. Hampton was acting in accordance with defendant’s approval in

selling to with Ms. Foley, rather than his own desire to complete the sale. This conclusion is strengthened by the fact that Ms. Foley's second purchase of drugs was from the defendant alone. This leads to the conclusion that defendant was the primary drug dealer and that Mr. Hampton followed his directions. This evidence clearly indicates that the defendant facilitated, or promoted the delivering of the cocaine.

Defendant cites to *Rangel-Reyes* and *Hernandez* arguing that there was more evidence presented in these cases than in the present case. *State v. Rangel-Reyes*, 119 Wn. App. 494, 81 P.3d 157 (2003), *State v. Hernandez*, 85 Wn. App. 672, 935 P.2d 623 (1997). However, *Rangel-Reyes* and *Hernandez* supports the State's position in the present case because in both cases, the court reiterated that circumstantial evidence was sufficient to convict the defendants of the crime of unlawful delivery of a controlled substance.

In *Rangel-Reyes*, the defendant challenged whether the evidence was sufficient to prove that the defendant was more than merely present during a drug deal. *Rangel-Reyes*, 119 Wn. App. at 496. The police had an informant call Mr. Garcia to set up a controlled buy at a parking lot. *Id.* The informant testified that while he was waiting in the parking lot with Mr. Garcia, he had to wait for the defendant to bring the cocaine. *Id.* When the defendant showed up in the parking lot, the informant could

hear a portion of a discussion regarding the price of the cocaine that went on between Mr. Garcia and the defendant. *Id.* The court held that there was sufficient evidence because the circumstantial evidence was substantial to show that the defendant was not only the cocaine supplier, but he knowingly facilitated the transaction. *Id.* at 500.

In *Hernandez*, on a consolidated appeal, four defendants challenged the sufficiency to whether or not the evidence was sufficient to establish that the object delivered was a controlled substance. *State v. Hernandez*, 85 Wn. App. at 674. During each case, officers used binoculars to watch a drug deal. *Id.* at 674. In each case, the customer and merchandise was gone by the time the officers arrested the defendant, but the officers found a similar substance on the defendant as the item delivered. *Id.* at 674. The court found that there was sufficient evidence in each case because of the inferences, and the officers' experiences with drug dealing to determine that the transactions involved controlled substances. *Hernandez*, 85 Wn. App. 678-682.

Defendant argues that the evidence was insufficient in this case because Ms. Foley did not overhear a discussion between Mr. Hampton and the defendant, see the defendant hand the drugs to Mr. Hampton, or see the defendant take the money from Mr. Hampton. Nevertheless, just as in *Rangel-Reyes* and *Hernandez*, the circumstantial evidence is

substantial to show that the defendant was an active participant during the drug transaction. In addition, *Hernandez* is factually distinguishable from the present case because the defendants were challenging whether the substance was in fact a controlled substance. In the present case, the defendant is not challenging this element, and it has been established that the substance was in fact cocaine.

A reasonable juror could have concluded based on the evidence that the defendant was aiding Mr. Hampton during the first controlled by on June 14, 2011. Therefore, based on all of the evidence the State provided, any rational trier of fact could have found beyond a reasonable doubt that on June 14, 2011, the defendant delivered a controlled substance.